THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Nov 10 2015 08:31 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

FORD MOTOR COMPANY,

Appellant,

v.

THERESA GARCIA TREJO AS THE SUCCESSOR-IN-INTEREST AND SURVIVING SPOUSE OF RAFAEL TREJO, DECEASED,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 67843

APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT, COUNTY OF CLARK THE HONORABLE VALERIE ADAIR, DISTRICT JUDGE DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. A-11-641059-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

LISA PERROCHET (PRO HAC VICE)
EMILY V. CUATTO (PRO HAC VICE)
15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, 18TH FLOOR
ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436-3000
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (818) 995-3157
lperrochet@horvitzlevy.com

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Defendant Ford Motor Company properly appeals from a final judgment on a jury verdict, an order denying Ford's motion for a new trial, and a post-judgment order awarding plaintiff costs of suit. NRAP 3A(b)(1), (2), (8).

This appeal is timely. Plaintiff's counsel served notice of entry of judgment on the jury's verdict on October 8, 2014. (15 JA 3398-3402.) Ford timely filed a renewed motion for judgment as a matter of law or, in the alternative, a motion for new trial on October 21, 2014. (15 JA 3533-67); NRCP 6(e), 50(b). Notice of entry of the district court's order denying those motions was served on March 19, 2015. (15 JA 3676-82.) Ford appealed within 30 days, on April 16, 2015. (15 JA 3683-84); NRAP 4(a)(1).

ROUTING STATEMENT

In this strict products liability action, the jury applied the "consumer expectations" test to find that the roof of a 2000 Ford Excursion was defectively designed. The Supreme Court should retain

this appeal for two reasons. First, it concerns a sizeable verdict of \$4.5 million. Second, it presents a question of first impression and statewide importance: whether the risk vs. benefit test, rather than the consumer expectations test, should govern complex product design cases where ordinary consumers cannot reasonably evaluate a product's expected performance in unfamiliar circumstances. NRAP 17(a)(13), (14).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Is Ford entitled to judgment, or at least a new trial, because plaintiff offered no competent evidence that a design defect caused the decedent's injuries?
- 2. Is Ford entitled to judgment because the court incorrectly instructed the jury on a consumer expectations test in a case in which the design issues were outside the ordinary consumer's experience and the risk vs. benefit test was required instead?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this strict products liability action arising from the death of Plaintiff Theresa Garcia Trejo's husband in a rollover accident, Ford appeals from a judgment finding that the accident vehicle—a Ford Excursion—had a defectively designed roof. There was no claim at trial that the Excursion's design was responsible for the rollover itself—the plaintiff's loss of control of the vehicle caused that. Instead, this case is solely about whether plaintiff's husband, Rafael Trejo, died because the Excursion's roof was not crashworthy as designed, having deformed up to eleven inches when the Excursion rolled over at least twice. On that question, Ford is entitled to judgment for two independent reasons.

First, plaintiff presented no competent evidence that the Excursion's roof design caused her husband's injuries. Plaintiff's causation expert simply assumed that the roof deformed all at once, pinning Mr. Trejo in a fixed position during the first time the car rolled over. Plaintiff's own roof design expert explained, however, that the roof deformation occurred cumulatively over the course of multiple rolls, making the pinning scenario impossible. The causation expert's opinion thus lacked any competent factual foundation. The trial court

erroneously permitted the medical examiner to bolster plaintiff's causation theory with post-treatment opinions. When the medical examiner's improper opinions are properly excluded, Ford is entitled to judgment, or at least a new trial.

Second, in a case involving the design of complex products for performance in circumstances unfamiliar to the ordinary consumer, the proper test for defect is the risk vs. benefit test. That test asks the jury to decide, based on expert testimony, whether there was a reasonable alternative design the defendant should have adopted to avoid the foreseeable risks of injury, considering the risks and benefits of both designs. Only a risk vs. benefit instruction was capable of directing the jury to consider the parties' expert evidence concerning the *overall* risks (and lack of benefits) of strengthening a roof as plaintiff's expert had proposed.

Plaintiff opposed Ford's request to instruct the jury under the risk vs. benefit test, choosing instead to proceed under the consumer expectations test. That test instructs a jury to find a defect whenever the product did not perform as an ordinary consumer reasonably would have expected. But ordinary consumers have no "reasonable"

expectations" about how vehicle roofs are designed to operate in rollover crashes, and cannot know whether a different roof design would be safer overall. The consumer expectations instruction thus improperly allowed the jury to accept plaintiff's argument that it could find for plaintiff simply because Mr. Trejo was unexpectedly injured. That is not the law. Manufacturers are responsible for designing products that are reasonably safe, not insuring against all injuries.

Because the consumer expectations test was the wrong test for this case—and because plaintiff's evidence could never have satisfied the applicable risk vs. benefit test—judgment for Ford is required.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Plaintiff loses control of the Excursion, causing a singlevehicle rollover accident in which her husband is fatally injured.

In December 2009, plaintiff Theresa Garcia Trejo, her husband Rafael Trejo, and her brother were traveling from their home in Las Vegas to Mexico. (9 JA 2070–72, 2075–77.) They hitched a homemade trailer to a Ford Excursion that plaintiff's brother had purchased a

couple of days earlier, and loaded that trailer with basically all of their household possessions, including large appliances. (9 JA 2076-77, 2089-91.)

While driving on a highway through New Mexico, the Trejos were in a catastrophic accident. (16 JA 3700–17, 3730.) Plaintiff, who had never before driven an Excursion or towed a loaded trailer, was driving. (9 JA 2076, 2090–91.) Mr. Trejo was in the front passenger seat, and plaintiff's brother was in the back. (16 JA 3730.) Plaintiff veered to avoid a truck merging onto the highway and lost control of the Excursion and trailer. (9 JA 2078–79.) The Excursion flipped onto its roof at least twice, coming to rest upside-down. (9 JA 2079.)

Mr. Trejo fractured his spine and was pronounced dead at the scene. (16 JA 3719, 3721, 3737.)

- B. Plaintiff sues Ford for her husband's death, alleging that the Excursion was not crashworthy.
 - 1. Plaintiff contends roof crush caused her husband to hyperflex his neck and asphyxiate.

By the time the case went to the jury, plaintiff advanced only a single claim of strict liability. (10 JA 2397-98; 14 JA 3387-88.) In support of that claim, she maintained that the Excursion's roof was defective in design because it partially caved in during the rollover. (See 4 JA 911.)

To support her theory that roof crush caused her husband's death, plaintiff relied on biomechanical causation expert Joseph Peles.

Deferring to other experts for information about the structural impact of the crash on the Excursion, Peles assumed that the roof had deformed at least ten inches during the *first* impact with the ground. (8 JA 1734–35, 1876–80; *see also* 1 JA 39–40.) Specifically, his biomechanics analysis assumed deformation of one inch to compress the seat, four or five inches to close the gap between Mr. Trejo's head and

the roof, and another six inches to push Mr. Trejo's head down into a bent, pinned, position. (8 JA 1879–80.)

Using his assumption, Peles opined that roof crush pinned Mr. Trejo against his seat cushion and caused his neck to hyperflex—to be pushed forward farther than the body can withstand—fracturing his neck and blocking his airway. (8 JA 1787.) Peles concluded that Mr. Trejo's body stayed pinned in that position throughout the roll sequence and "as he sat there after the accident," resulting in asphyxiation. (8 JA 1734–35, 1738, 1746, 1787, 1852–53.) Without hyperflexion, Peles believed Mr. Trejo would not have died. (8 JA 1870.)

Plaintiff also offered testimony of the medical examiner who had conducted Mr. Trejo's autopsy, Dr. Ross Zumwalt. (8 JA 1937, 1940.) In the official autopsy records, Dr. Zumwalt recorded "evidence of a blunt trauma to the head with an impact to the top and back of the head, which resulted in a fracture of the lower cervical spine." (8 JA 1946; 9 JA 1978, 1980; 16 JA 3724, 3737.) According to the records, death occurred in "seconds." (9 JA 1978; 16 JA 3737.)

At trial, and over Ford's objection (2 JA 244–66; 8 JA 1917–34),

Dr. Zumwalt gave a new opinion, theorizing that the "most likely" cause

of Mr. Trejo's spinal fracture was hyperflexion, and that Mr. Trejo's death could have had an asphyxia component (8 JA 1953–56; 9 JA 1963, 1981–82, 1998). Dr. Zumwalt admitted that he had not included positional asphyxia in his autopsy report. He admitted, too, that asphyxia takes "minutes" (not "seconds"). (9 JA 1981.) And he admitted that he could *not* say that the criteria for listing positional asphyxia as the cause of death were satisfied in this case. (9 JA 1976, 1981–82.) Having no engineering or biomechanic expertise, Dr. Zumwalt offered no opinion on how hyperflexion or asphyxia could have been caused by the roof design.

2. Plaintiff contends the roof should have deformed less during the rollover.

On the issue of the roof's crashworthiness, plaintiff's sole witness was mechanical engineer Brian Herbst, who testified about how the roof performed and how that performance related to Mr. Trejo's injuries. (5 JA 1161-62, 1165.)

As to how the roof performed in the accident, Herbst explained that the roof above Mr. Trejo deformed inwards a total of about ten and

one-half inches over the course of the rollover sequence. (6 JA 1377.)

He opined that more than fifty percent of the total crush occurred during the roof's impact with the ground on the first roll, but he could not be more specific. (6 JA 1359.) There was "certainly" "additional crush" that occurred as the car began to roll a second time and came to rest on its roof. (*Id.*) Herbst also noted that Ford had advertised "safety cell" construction in the Excursion (5 JA 1180–81; 17 JA 4025), and implied that, from his perspective, the roof did not meet consumer expectations arising from a such a construction.

As to how the roof should have performed differently, over Ford's objections (see 1 JA 68–75, 94–105; 5 JA 1011–22, 1050), Herbst described "drop tests" he performed (see 17 JA 4087–4175; 18 JA 4176–4304). When Herbst dropped an ordinary production version of the Excursion upside down on the corner of the roof from one foot high, it experienced approximately the same vertical crush as the Trejo Excursion's roof had experienced during two impacts with the ground as it rolled. (6 JA 1263–70; 16 JA 3174–75; 17 JA 4161–71.) Herbst ran the same test on an Excursion he had reinforced with steel and foam, adding 150 pounds of weight to the vehicle. (6 JA 1303–10, 1382–83.)

The heavily reinforced roof experienced little deformation. (6 JA 1314–16; 18 JA 4237–66.)

Based on these tests, Herbst opined that the Trejo's multiplerollover accident was not very severe, equating it to a "fender bender." (6 JA 1272.) He also testified that, had Ford built a more rigid roof, the *roof* would have fared much better in the accident. (5 JA 1201.)

Although the trial court had admitted Herbst's opinions on the assumption Herbst would establish that the forces in his drop tests were similar to the accident forces (5 JA 1021-22), Herbst conceded at trial that his drop tests did *not* replicate the forces present in the actual rollover (6 JA 1362). Herbst also admitted he did not use crash-test dummies—one of the standard tools used to examine the relationship between roof crush and injuries in rollovers—in his drop tests. (6 JA 1385.) Although he had used dummies during testing in other cases (2) JA 292–93), he did not use them here because, he believes, they are not sufficiently human-like to test for neck injuries (6 JA 1408-10; see also 8 JA 1800–01). In fact, Herbst did not do any testing, or even calculations, as to what the forces would be on the occupants throughout the accident. Instead, he relied on the assumption that less

deformation was necessarily better for the occupants in every case. (See 6 JA 1331.)

Notwithstanding his stronger-is-better assumption, Herbst admitted that a *non*-defective roof could crush as much as the Excursion's did, and that serious injuries can occur in a rollover accident no matter how rigid the roof. (6 JA 1234, 1351.)

C. Plaintiff successfully objects to instructing the jury on the risk vs. benefit test and elects to rely only on the consumer expectations test.

When it came time for the case to go to the jury, Ford requested the court to instruct the jury that:

A product is defective in design when the foreseeable risks of harm posed by the product could have been reduced or avoided by the adoption of a *reasonable alternative design* and the omission of the alternative design renders the product not reasonably safe.

(14 JA 3206 (emphasis added); see also 14 JA 3205); and that:

Whether a defect in a product's design causes the product to be not "reasonably safe" is determined through a process of *balancing the risks and utility* of the product as designed.

(14 JA 3207 (listing factors; emphasis added); *see* 13 JA 3175–76.)

These instructions were based on the Restatement (Third) of Torts:

Products Liability § 2 (Am. Law Inst. 1998), and state what is known as the "risk-utility" or "risk vs. benefit" test.

The court refused these instructions, and instructed the jury only on plaintiff's theory of the case under Restatement (Second) of Torts, as embodied in Nevada Pattern Jury Instruction 7PL4. (13 JA 3176.)

According to those instructions:

A product is defective in design if, as a result of its design, the product is unreasonably dangerous.

(14 JA 3372), and

A product is unreasonably dangerous if it failed to perform in the manner reasonably to be expected in light of its nature and intended function, and was more dangerous than would be contemplated by the ordinary user having the ordinary knowledge available in the community.

(14 JA 3373 (emphases added)). This instruction describes the "consumer expectations" test.

Given that the case was going to the jury under the consumer expectations test, Ford proposed as a fallback that the court give two instructions to clarify plaintiff's burden: (1) that "[a] manufacturer is

not required to produce the safest possible design" (14 JA 3210) and (2) that "[t]he manufacturer of an automobile is not a guarantor that no one will get hurt using the automobile. What the manufacturer is required to do is to make a product which is free from defective and unreasonably dangerous conditions" (13 JA 3178; 14 JA 3209).

The district court agreed that Ford's clarifying instructions were correct statements of law, but nevertheless declined to give them. (13 JA 3179.)

D. Ford objects on misconduct grounds to plaintiff's counsel's misleading closing argument.

Plaintiff's counsel seized on the lack of clarity in what it means for the design of a complex product like a vehicle's roof to be "unreasonably dangerous" and thus "defective" under the consumer expectations test. Counsel argued to the jury that "If you think that a 5-foot-4 man should be able to walk away from a 27-mile-an-hour crash, you will return a verdict for Ms. Trejo." (14 JA 3348.) He also advanced other improper arguments, including:

- "If you think that a manufacturer should test its products before it sells them to the public, you will return a verdict . . . for Ms. Trejo." (*Id*.)
- "If you believe that rare is not an excuse and is not a good excuse to protect against known dangers, I believe that you will return a verdict for Ms. Trejo." (14 JA 3349.)
- "Now is your time to tell us what you think about the way Ford engineered this vehicle. Now is your time to make a difference. . . . America gets better because people stand up, and people speak for those that cannot speak for themselves." (14 JA 3350–51.)

Ford objected to these arguments as contrary to law because (a)

Ford is not required to design a product that will protect against all
injuries; (b) the issue of whether Ford was negligent in failing to test the
Excursion was irrelevant to whether the Excursion was defective for
strict liability purposes—the only liability theory going to the jury; and
(c) jury nullification arguments are prohibited. (14 JA 3348–49, 3351);
Lioce v. Cohen, 124 Nev. 1, 21, 174 P.3d 970, 983 (2008) (asking "the
jury to 'send a message' about frivolous lawsuits" "was a clear attempt

at jury nullification"); *id*. ("Golden rule arguments [which ask jurors to place themselves in the position of one of the parties] are improper because they infect the jury's objectivity."). Each time, the court sustained the objection and admonished the jury to follow the instructions. (14 JA 3348-49, 3351.)

Undeterred, plaintiff's counsel closed with a final improper plea: "Ladies and gentlemen, you know what your job is. I have the utmost confidence that you will do it. I make no apologies for what I do. I stand up, and I speak . . . for those who cannot speak for themselves." (14 JA 3351.) Ford objected to this improper personal belief argument, and the objection was again sustained. (*Id.*); see Lioce, at 21–22, 174 P.3d at 983. The jury then went out to deliberate. (14 JA 3351–52.)

E. The jury awards plaintiff \$4.5 million for Mr. Trejo's death. Ford appeals.

The jury returned its 7-1 verdict in favor of plaintiff, awarding her \$4.5 million, to which the district court added \$356,703.51 in costs. (14 JA 3387-88, 3392-93; 15 JA 3673.)

Ford sought post-trial relief. (15 JA 3533-67.) The district court agreed that plaintiff's theory of causation was nonsensical:

[I am] inclined to agree, frankly, with the defense [be]cause it didn't make a lot of sense to me the theory that the roof crushed and then the deceased . . . was pinned and had that type of an injury because to me the force in order to crush that roof would cause the movement of the body. So the whole theory didn't make a lot of sense to me.

(15 JA 3629.) The court nonetheless denied Ford's motion. (15 JA 3673.) Ford appeals. (15 JA 3683-84.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. Ford is entitled to judgment because plaintiff presented no competent evidence that roof crush caused her husband's injuries. Plaintiff's hyperflexion and asphyxia causation theory rested on Peles's opinion, which assumed the entire roof deformation occurred during the *first* roll. But plaintiff's design expert, Herbst, defeated the foundation for that assumption, opining that at least some—and up to half—of the roof crush occurred as the Excursion rolled the *second* time. Peles's theory was thus physically impossible.

Plaintiff attempted to bridge the causation gap by relying on medical examiner Dr. Zumwalt's testimony that Mr. Trejo could have died from hyperflexion and asphyxia. But that testimony did nothing to explain how roof deformation, rather than the forces in the accident, could have caused such injuries. And Dr. Zumwalt's hyperflexion testimony never should have been admitted in the first place. A treating physician like Dr. Zumwalt may testify only to opinions formed during treatment. By revising the opinions he originally formed during treatment to support plaintiff's theory of the case, Dr. Zumwalt crossed the line from a treating physician to a retained expert. Because neither he nor his opinions were disclosed as required under the Nevada rules, his newly formed opinions should have been excluded.

2. Judgment for Ford is also warranted because plaintiff did not, and could not, obtain a finding of design defect under correct legal principles. The consumer expectations test on which plaintiff rested her claims applies where a product fails to live up to minimal safety expectations in situations familiar to an ordinary consumer. In those situations, a lay juror can readily understand the problems with the product. In this case, by contrast, the plaintiff claims a complex

machine that performed as intended in a situation unfamiliar to most consumers should have been designed differently. The appropriate test in such circumstances is risk vs. benefit, which requires the plaintiff to establish a reasonable alternative design that would avoid or reduce the foreseeable risks of injuries, considering the product's overall risks and utilities. Plaintiff pleaded this theory, but abandoned it at trial—and understandably so. Plaintiff's evidence could not satisfy that test. Her only design expert should never have been permitted to testify in the first place because his opinions were irrelevant and unreliable. And even if considered, his opinions did not establish a reasonable alternative design.

ARGUMENT

- I. FORD IS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT, OR AT LEAST A NEW TRIAL, BECAUSE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PRESENT COMPETENT EVIDENCE THAT THE ROOF DESIGN CAUSED HER HUSBAND'S INJURIES.
- A. Plaintiff's biomechanical expert's theory of causation lacked any factual foundation.

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