1	IN THE SUPREME COURT		
2	OF THE STATE OF NEVADA		
3			
3 4	FORD MOTOR COMPANY,	Electronically Filed Jan 26 2016 08:28 a.m.	
5	Appellant,,	Tracie K. Lindeman Supreme Court Gere Hosupreme Court	
6	V.	District Court Case No. A-11-641059-C	
7 8	THERESA GARCIA TREJO, AS THE SUCCESSOR-IN-INTEREST AND SURVIVING SPOUSE OF RAFAEL TREJO, DECEASED		
9	Respondent.		
10			
11	RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF		
12			
13	MAUPIN • NAYLOR • BRASTER A. William Maupin (NBN 1315)	NETTLES LAW FIRM Brian D. Nettles (NBN 3660)	
14	John M. Naylor (NBN 5435)	William R. Killip, Jr. (NBN 7462)	
15	Jennifer L. Braster (NBN 9982)	1389 Galleria Drive, Suite 200

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

VII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The parties submitted conflicting evidence on the question of defect and causation. The jury was entitled to adopt plaintiff's theories of recovery based upon plaintiff's evidence and the testimony of the New Mexico coroner. Both belied Ford's instantaneous death theory. Beyond that, Ford grasps at the proverbial straw when it claims that the District Court should have foreseen a change in the basic rules for strict tort liability that have been working successfully for over 40 years.

A. <u>Substantial Evidence Supports the Jury Verdict</u>

Ford tries to retry this case on appeal, claiming there is no "competent evidence" that the 2000 Excursion's unquestionably substandard roof – by Ford's own standards and conduct regarding its other vehicles – caused Rafael's death. However, as the District Court observed, there is "plenty of evidence" supporting the jury verdict, once the evidence as a whole is considered. 15 JA 3646-3648.

Ford ignores altogether Ms. Trejo's eyewitness testimony that Rafael was alive and conscious, with his eyes open and moving and looking at her, when the vehicle came to rest on its flattened roof with Rafael pinned inside. Her testimony

squarely controverts the speculative opinion of Ford's experts that Rafael died in a "perfect storm" of circumstances within milliseconds of the roof first contacting the ground and before any roof crush occurred. Expert opinions are admitted to help the jury understand the evidence; they are not competent evidence of facts and cannot take the place of factual evidence, as Ford hopes. Perez v. State, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 30, 313 P.3d 862, 866 (2013).

Ford tried to suppress the trial opinions of Dr. Zumwalt, the Chief New Mexico Medical Investigator, and the only disinterested expert to testify at trial, claiming he needed to be treated as a "retained expert witness," citing cases involving physicians treating patients. However, Dr. Zumwalt is not like a physician retained first to treat a patient and who then gives expert testimony after treatment has ended. Dr. Zumwalt's responsibility for determining Rafael's death resulted from his official duties. Since Dr. Zumwalt's official responsibility for determining Rafael's cause of death never ended, Ford cannot insist that Dr. Zumwalt's initial autopsy report be cast in stone by falsely claiming he became a "retained expert witness" thereafter. The District Court vigorously voir dired Dr. Zumwalt to ensure his trial opinions were solely the result of his own work; hence Ford has no cause for complaint. To the extent Ford challenges the coroner's evidence based upon perceived differences between his evidence and his report, that challenge was resolved by the jury below as it was the sole judge of witness credibility in this case.

2

Ford tried to exclude the expert testimony of Brian Herbst mischaracterizing the scope, purpose, relevance and substance of his opinions and then quarrelling with the content of his opinions under the guise of attacking his "competence" and their "foundation." Herbst's opinions and testing methods were intended to illustrate the forces involved in a rollover by replicating the resulting roof crush and show how the roof crush could be eliminated or substantially reduced by a commercially feasible alternative roof structure such as the one Ford used on its Expedition SUV. Herbst never intended to replicate the "conditions" of the accident or its effect on a human being inside the vehicle, since the jury learned all it needed to know about those issues in this accident from Ms. Trejo's eyewitness testimony, Dr. Zumwalt's disinterested testimony, and Dr. Joe Peles' expert opinion (discussed below) that explained their testimony. Ford complains that Herbt's drop tests did not use instrumented dummies, but dummies were irrelevant to the scope, purpose, relevance and substance of his opinions, and Ford rigged the dummies used in its experts' drop tests so they would remain in the position required by their theory of how people are injured in rollover accidents. 13 JA 3097-98, 3118-19, 3121-22.

Ford claims no substantial evidence supports the jury verdict because there is a "gap" between Herbst's testimony and Peles' assumptions as to whether all or "more than half" of the roof crush occurred when the roof first contacted the ground during the rollover. The jury could have reconciled any alleged "gap" in

the expert testimony, since the evidence at trial established that the "static" roof crush measured after the accident is significantly less than the "dynamic" roof crush that occurs during the rollover. More important, the credibility of expert testimony is for the jury. Houston Expl. Inc. v. Meredith, 102 Nev. 510, 513, 728 P.2d 437, 439 (1986); Allen v. State, 99 Nev. 485, 488, 665 P.2d 238, 240 (1983). Here, the jury could have reasonably concluded that Dr. Peles' opinions credibly explained Ms. Trejo's eyewitness testimony and Dr. Zumwalt's disinterested testimony despite the self-interested nitpicking of Ford's litigation team.

B. The Jury Was Properly Instructed on the Law

Ford further complains that the jury was instructed on the "consumer expectations" test that has governed products liability law in Nevada for nearly half a century. See Ginnis v. Mapes Hotel Corp., 86 Nev. 408, 470 P.2d 135 (1970). This protest largely stems from the fact that Ginnis and its precedential prodigies compelled a jury decision against Ford. To demonstrate, here, Ford deliberately sought to create favorable consumer expectations for the roof strength of the 2000 Ford Excursion with marketing materials that touted its "safety cell construction" and "reinforced" roof pillars, with no test results whatsoever to support such claims. Ford did nothing to either adopt a commercially feasible alternative design or correct consumer expectations when subsequent testing established that the roof strength of the 2000 Excursion fell well below Ford's own standards, that the roof strength of the Ford Expedition SUV met those standards.

and that, with a commercially feasible modification, the Excursion could have met those standards.

The "consumer expectations" test is the proper test for strict liability in tort, regardless of whether the cause of the plaintiff's injury is a manufacturing defect, a design defect, or an unidentified defect that cannot be pigeonholed. See Aubin v. Union Carbide Corp., 177 So.3d 489 (Fla. 2015); Ginnis, 86 Nev. 408, 470 P.2d 135. Consumers purchase and use the product and bear the risk of being killed or seriously injured by "unreasonably dangerous" products regardless of how the judicial system classifies defects. Conversely, manufacturers are largely if not exclusively in control of the information available to the ordinary consumer from which reasonable consumer expectations can be determined and can affect those expectations through advertising and marketing materials, directives to dealers, bulletins to regulatory agencies and testing services and recall notices, should the manufacturer choose to do so. Ford did not do so in this case.

Nevertheless, Ford and its amici insist that the Court should repudiate nearly a half-century of consumer protection under strict liability in tort and instead, require risk-utility balancing among feasible alternative designs before a consumer can obtain compensation for injuries caused by a manufacturer choosing to market unreasonably dangerous products, under the new Restatement § 2(b). Ford's principal basis for making this demand in this and other cases is its contention that the "ordinary consumer" does not know enough to form "reasonable expectations"

about "complex" products they use every day. However, under the "consumer expectations" test, the source of "reasonable expectations" is not technical expertise, but the nature and intended function of the product (including its appearance) and the information available to the ordinary consumer in the community. If — as noted above — the manufacturer fails to make available sufficient accurate and truthful information to permit reasonable consumer expectations regarding a product's safety and use — as Ford failed to do here — the manufacturer has nobody to blame but itself.

Moreover, risk-utility balancing under new Restatement § 2(b) is fundamentally in conflict with Nevada law in at least three major respects.

First, new Restatement § 2(b) requires proof of a feasible alternative design before a manufacturer can be held liable for injuries caused by its marketing of an unreasonably dangerous product. As the Court recognized long ago, that requirement is wholly inconsistent with the original and fundamental purpose of strict liability in tort – to compensate those injured by unreasonably dangerous products and spread the real costs of such products through price adjustments and liability insurance. See Allison v. Merck & Co., Inc., 110 Nev. 762, 878 P.2d 948 (1994); see also, Aubin, 177 So.3d 489.

Second, the Comments to new Restatement § 2(b) make liability for damages dependent upon balancing the risks of death or serious bodily injury against factors such as the greater usefulness and consumer choice provided by the

product without a safer feasible alternative design. In contrast, under this Court's precedents, reasonable consumer expectations on the one hand, and commercially feasible alternatives on the other, form the outer parameters within which manufacturers must satisfy reasonable consumer expectations regarding safety, by only marketing products with the safest commercially feasible design. See Robinson v. G.G.C., Inc., 107 Nev. 135, 808 P.2d 522 (1991).

Third, new Restatement § 2(b) shifts the relevant inquiry from the "reasonableness" of the product's safety to the "reasonableness" of the manufacturer's conduct in marketing the product and injects factors into that decision-making that go far beyond safety considerations. As numerous courts have recognized, by doing so, the new Restatement § 2(b) effectively wipes out strict liability in tort (and seriously threatens crashworthiness claims) for design defects, by requiring that the plaintiff prove fault, i.e. negligent decision-making. See Banks v. ICI Americas, Inc., 450 S.E.2d 671 (Ga. 1994). Moreover, the factors made relevant by new Restatement § 2(b) resurrect contributory negligence as a defense to the manufacturer's liability, contrary to this Court's longstanding strict liability precedents. See Andrews v. Harley Davidson, Inc., 106 Nev. 533, 796 P.2d 1092 (1990).

The remarkable proposition that Ford's products and practices have eclipsed the capabilities of this Court's current binding precedents to provide a proper framework for determining liability in products cases ignores that fact that the

Second Restatement position has protected consumers and product producers alike since this court handed down Ginnis v. Mapes Hotel, supra, in 1970. Moreover, it also ignores the fact that the Third Restatement position simply cedes control over products liability to the producer based primarily on its own internal economic considerations. This new "rule" then works primarily to protect the manufacturer rather than the consumer. Its adoption would essentially return the court system to its pre-strict tort liability era, where purchasers of important products could only bring negligence claims and simply had to accept and endure defective and dangerous manufacturing practices without any real practical redress. Caveat emptor – let the buyer beware.

This is not to say Ford is "anti-consumer." Ford's products have improved greatly since the days of "Pinto" litigation. But those improvements did not happen because the company had some altruistic epiphany that was merely coincidental to that watershed victory for automobile consumers. This occurred because the test for strict liability in tort recovery was geared to the reasonable expectations of consumers that a product was not unreasonably dangerous in normal and foreseeable use. In short, it was the court system that forced that change of view.

Ginnis v. Mapes Hotel Corp., Robinson v. G.G.C. Inc., Allison v. Merck & Co., Inc., etc. have provided and developed essential consumer protection in our State. The view offered from the new Restatement § 2(b) simply regresses products protection back to the *absurd* premise that modern design and manufacturing

practices have eliminated the need for the protection provided by the now traditional Second Restatement approach, and that modern products like the Ford Excursion are just too complex and sophisticated for evaluation by jurors based upon a reasonable consumer expectations formula.

C. Ford's Requests for Relief on This Appeal Have No Merit

Finally, Ford demands JNOV from this Court relying solely on the opinions, testing methods, and conclusions of its own expert witnesses. However, as discussed above, Ms. Trejo's eyewitness testimony squarely controverts Ford's experts' opinions on the time and manner of Rafael's death and Dr. Zumwalt's disinterested expert testimony squarely controverts Ford's experts' opinions on the cause of Rafael's death – as the District Court expressly recognized in denying Ford JNOV. 15 JA 3676-82. Moreover, the central premise of Ford's defense – that roof crush doesn't matter because its testing methods show no correlation between roof crush and occupant injury – is squarely refuted by the facts of this very case as found by the jury from the credible evidence at trial. Hence, Ford's continuing demand for JNOV simply exposes its utter contempt for, not only consumer safety, but also the judicial process and the role of the jury in resolving factual disputes.

Ford makes only passing references to "at least" being entitled to a new trial, but does not even attempt to satisfy its heavy burden of showing that, but for prejudicial error below, a different result was probable such that it might

reasonably have been expected. <u>See Cook v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., LLC</u>, 124 Nev. 997, 1009-10, 194 P.3d 1214, 1221-22 (2014). Specifically, Ford and its amici attempted to make new Restatement § 2(b) the central issue on this appeal, but the evidence at trial would have satisfied that test as well. Ford could have reinforced the roof strength of the Excursion for \$70/vehicle and used stronger roof support as in its Expedition SUV. Ford never claimed, much less demonstrated, that doing so would have reduced either its utility or consumer choice. Hence, Ford had no evidentiary basis for requesting jury instructions on risk-utility balancing.

Ford argues that increasing roof strength would have "zero" safety benefits – based on its "no correlation between roof crush and occupant injury" argument – and doing so "might" reduce the overall safety of the vehicle. Again, Ford's "no correlation" argument is squarely refuted by the facts of this case, and Ford's experts did not identify even one specific circumstance, much less a majority of specific circumstances, in which increasing roof strength would have resulted in more injuries, there being no more severe injury than death. In short, Ford and its amici create a massive strawman by demanding risk-utility balancing with nothing but expert speculation supporting lesser "benefits" on a risk-benefit analysis. That speculation is squarely refuted by Ford's own conduct in using stronger roof supports satisfying Ford's own standards on its other vehicles such as the Expedition SUV. Thus, Ford has not, and cannot, show that a different result was

probable, had the jury been instructed on new Restatement § 2(b), and Ford has no basis for demanding a new trial.

The jury verdict is supported by substantial evidence when the evidence is considered as a whole. Ford has failed to demonstrate prejudicial error or abuse of discretion in the District Court's evidentiary rulings. The district court in no way abused its discretion when it instructed the jury on the "consumer expectation" test under Nevada law, particularly in light of Ford's conduct in marketing the vehicle. The Court should firmly reject the new Restatement § 2(b) and its comments as inconsistent with well-settled Nevada law and contrary to Nevada public policy as embodied in strict liability in tort. In all this, Ford is not entitled to either JNOV or a new trial.

VIII. ARGUMENT

A. The Jury Verdict Is Supported by Substantial Competent Evidence When the Evidence Is Considered as a Whole

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